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STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

http://ethics.nv.gov 
 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
 

 
NAME OF ORGANIZATION: NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
DATE & TIME OF MEETING:  Wednesday, April 20, 2016 at 1:00 p.m. 
 
PLACE OF MEETING:  This meeting will be held at the following location: 

 
Nevada Commission on Tourism 

Laxalt Building - Second Floor Chambers 
401 North Carson Street 
Carson City, NV 89701 

 
and via video-conference to: 

 
Governor’s Office of Economic Development 

555 E. Washington Ave, Suite 5400 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 

 
 

AGEND A 
 
NOTES: 
 

 Two or more agenda items may be combined for consideration.  
 At any time, an agenda item may be taken out of order, removed, or delayed.  
 Public comment will be accepted at the beginning of the open session and again before the 

conclusion of the open session of the meeting.  Comment and/or testimony by the public 
may be limited to three (3) minutes.  No action may be taken on any matter referred to in 
remarks made as public comment.  Members of the public may also submit written public 
comment to the Commission at NCOE@ethics.nv.gov.  

 
 1. Call to Order, Roll Call, and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 
 
 
 

  

 2. Public Comment. Comment and/or testimony by any member of the public will 
be limited to three (3) minutes. No action will be taken under this agenda item. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

3. Approval of Minutes of the March 16, 2016 Commission Meeting. 

http://ethics.nv.gov/
mailto:NCOE@ethics.nv.gov
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For 
Possible 
Action 

4. Discussion and consideration of final disposition concerning Third-Party Request 
for Opinion No. 14-70C regarding Shirley Matson, Former Nye County 
Assessor, submitted pursuant to NRS 281A.440(2), including determination of 
willfulness and imposition of possible sanctions under NRS 281A.480. 

For 
Possible 
Action 

5. Discussion and approval of a Proposed Stipulation concerning Third-Party 
Request for Opinion No. 14-73C regarding Leonard Lance Gilman, 
Commissioner, Storey County Commission, submitted pursuant to NRS 
281A.440(2). 

For 
Possible 
Action 

6. Report by Executive Director on agency status and operations, including:  
• Commissioner Appointments 
• Education and outreach by the Commission 
• Proposed legislative and regulatory considerations, procedures and 

deadlines 
• Upcoming Commission meetings 

For 
Possible 
Action 

7. Consideration, discussion and approval of Proposed Budget Enhancement 
Concepts pertaining to the 2017-2019 Biennial Budget of the Nevada Commission 
on Ethics to be submitted to the Governor’s Office, and direction to the 
Commission’s Executive Director to submit the concepts to the Governor’s office. 

 
8. Commissioner Comments on matters including, without limitation, identification of 

future agenda items, upcoming meeting dates and meeting procedures. No action 
will be taken under this agenda item. 

 9. Public Comment. Comment and/or testimony by any member of the public may 
be limited to three (3) minutes. No action will be taken under this agenda item. 

 10. Adjournment. 
 
*A meeting or hearing held by the Commission pursuant to NRS 281A.440 to receive information or evidence 
regarding the conduct of a public officer or employee, and deliberations of the Commission regarding such a 
public officer or employee, are exempt from the provisions of NRS Chapter 241, The Open Meeting Law.  As a 
result, these agenda items, or any portion of them, may be heard in closed session. 
 
NOTES: 

 
 The Commission is pleased to make reasonable accommodations for any member of the public who has a 

disability and wishes to attend the meeting. If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please 
notify the Nevada Commission on Ethics, in writing at 704 W. Nye Lane, Ste. 204, Carson City, Nevada 
89703; via email at ncoe@ethics.nv.gov or call 775-687-5469 as far in advance as possible. 

 
 To request an advance copy of the supporting materials for any open session of this meeting, contact 

Executive Director Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. at ncoe@ethics.nv.gov or call 775-687-5469. 
 

 This Agenda and supporting materials are posted and are available not later than the 3rd working day before 
the meeting at the Commission’s office, 704 W. Nye Lane, Ste. 204, Carson City, Nevada, or on the 
Commission’s website at www.ethics.nv.gov.  A copy also will be available at the meeting location on the 
meeting day. 

 
This Notice of Public Meeting and Agenda was posted in compliance with NRS 241.020 before 9:00 a.m. on 
the third working day before the meeting at the following locations: 
 

• Nevada Commission on Ethics, 704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204, Carson City 
• Nevada Commission on Ethics' website: http://ethics.nv.gov 

mailto:ncoe@ethics.nv.gov
mailto:ncoe@ethics.nv.gov
http://www.ethics.nv.gov/
http://ethics.nv.gov/
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• Nevada Public Notice Website: http://notice.nv.gov 
• State Library & Archives Building, 100 North Stewart Street, Carson City 
• Blasdel Building, 209 E. Musser Street, Carson City 
• Washoe County Administration Building, 1001 East 9th Street, Reno 
• Grant Sawyer State Office Building, 555 E. Washington Ave., Las Vegas 
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STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

http://ethics.nv.gov 
 

MINUTES 
of the meeting of the 

NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

March 16, 2016 
 

The Commission on Ethics held a public meeting on 
Wednesday, March 16, 2016, at 9:00 a.m. 

at the following locations: 
 

Grant Sawyer State Office Building 
555 E. Washington Ave, Room 4412 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 
 

These minutes constitute a summary of the above proceedings of the Nevada 
Commission on Ethics. Verbatim transcripts are available for public inspection at the 
Commission’s office located in Carson City.  
 

1. Call to Order, Roll Call, and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 

Chair Cheryl A. Lau, Esq. called the meeting to order in Las Vegas, Nevada at 9:12 a.m. 
Present in Las Vegas were Commissioners Magdalena Groover, James M. Shaw and Dan H. 
Stewart. Present for Commission Staff in Las Vegas were Executive Director, Yvonne M. 
Nevarez-Goodson, Esq., Commission Counsel, Tracy L. Chase, Esq., Associate Counsel, Judy 
A. Prutzman, Esq. and Executive Assistant Valerie M. Carter. 

 
Present via video teleconference from Elko, Nevada was Commissioner John C. 

Carpenter.  Commissioner Barbara Gruenewald, Esq. appeared via telephone and participated in 
agenda items 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5. 

 
The pledge of allegiance was conducted. 

 
2. Public Comment.  

 
No public comment. 
 

3. Authorization for the Commission Chair and/or Executive Director, as appropriate, 
to seek a written opinion from the Nevada Attorney General’s office pursuant to NRS 
228.150 to obtain clarification on State laws establishing confidentiality in State 
administrative proceedings for professional licensing matters, which may implicate 
provisions of NRS Chapter 281A, the Ethics in Government Law, and matters relating 
thereto. 

 
Commission Counsel, Tracy L. Chase, Esq., explained that the Ethics Law requires public 

officers who represent individuals in their private capacity before Executive Branch agencies of 
State Government, to file with the Commission a Notice of Representation indicating the name of 
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their client(s), the nature of the representation and the state agency.  Ms. Chase expressed the 
concern that certain State agencies have independent confidentiality provisions which require the 
name of the subject remain confidential.  Ms. Chase explained the conflict between the Ethics 
Law requiring disclosure and the provisions of other agencies and licensing boards requiring 
confidentiality, and she recommended that the Commission request an Attorney General Opinion 
to interpret any discrepancies. 

 
Ms. Chase briefly explained her understanding of the process to request an Attorney General 

Opinion. 
 
Commissioner Stewart moved to authorize the Commission Chair and/or the Executive 

Director as appropriate, to seek a written Opinion from the Nevada Attorney General’s Office 
pursuant to NRS 228.150 regarding this matter.  Commissioner Shaw seconded the Motion. The 
Motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously.   

 
5. Approval of Minutes of the September 16, 2015, December 16, 2015 and January 20, 

2016 Commission Meetings. 
 
 This agenda item was called out of order.  Commission Counsel Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
stated that a quorum of the members who participated in the September 16, 2015 and January 
20, 2016 meetings was not present at the time to vote on the related Minutes, but a quorum was 
present to vote on the December 16, 2015 Meeting Minutes.  Approval of the remaining Minutes 
was tabled until later in the meeting. 
 
  Commissioner Shaw abstained from voting on the December 16, 2015 minutes as he was 
excused from that Meeting. 
 
 Commissioner Groover moved to approve the Minutes of the December 16, 2016 
Commission Meeting.  Commissioner Stewart seconded the Motion.  The Motion was put to a 
vote and carried unanimously. 
 

4.  Discussion and consideration of Motion for Summary Judgment (“Motion”) and Offer of 
Proof based upon Panel Determination concerning Third-Party Request for Opinion No. 14-70C 
regarding Shirley Matson, Former Nye County Assessor, submitted pursuant to NRS 
281A.440(2).  

 
Commissioner Carpenter disclosed that he served on the Panel regarding RFO 14-70C 

and thus would not participate in the matter.  
 
Lisa A. Rasmussen, Esq. appeared on behalf the Subject Shirley Matson. Executive 

Director, Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq., appeared on behalf of the Commission.  
 
 As exempt from the Open Meeting Law pursuant to NRS 281A.440(16), the meeting was 

called into closed session at 9:26 a.m. to discuss and consider the Motion and Offer of Proof, 
as such records contained confidential content. 

 
 The meeting was called into open session at 10:44 a.m.  
 
Commissioner Gruenewald discussed the extensive procedural history of the Request for 

Opinion, noting the 18 months that Commission staff had worked on this case, the preliminary 
review by an Investigatory Panel, and the five continuances granted with no response from the 
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Subject.  Commissioner Grunewald further identified the factual support of the Motion for 
Summary Judgment and lack of any statements under oath or other documents by Matson.  
Based on her comments, Commissioner Gruenewald and moved that the Commission grant 
the Motion for Summary Judgement in Request for Opinion 14-70C.  Commissioner Shaw 
seconded the Motion.   

 
The Motion was put to a vote and carried as follows: 
 
Commissioner Shaw:    Aye. 
Commissioner Groover:  No. 
Commissioner Gruenewald:   Aye. 
Commissioner Stewart:    Aye. 
Commissioner Lau:    Aye.  
 
Commission Counsel Tracy L. Chase, Esq. stated that with the passage of the Motion, the 

Commission would need to determine whether or not the violations of the Ethics Law are 
“willful” and whether or not there will be an associated fine. 

 
Commissioner Shaw moved that the Subject appear before the Commission at its next 

meeting to review any mitigating factors relating to the willfulness of the violations found.  
Commissioner Stewart seconded the Motion.   

 
The Motion was put to a vote and carried as follows: 
 
Commissioner Shaw:    Aye. 
Commissioner Groover:  No. 
Commissioner Gruenewald:   Aye. 
Commissioner Stewart:    Aye. 
Commissioner Lau:    Aye.  
 
A discussion ensued regarding the scheduling of the hearing to determine the willfulness.   
 
Ms. Rasmussen confirmed her availability to appear on Wednesday April 20, 2016.  She 

agreed to submit arguments in writing if Ms. Matson would not be in attendance.  Ms. 
Rasmussen stated she would notify the Commission by April 16, 2016 regarding Ms. Matson’s 
attendance at the April 20th hearing. 

 
A brief recess was taken at 10:55 a.m.  The meeting reconvened at 11:05 a.m.  
  
Vice-Chair Keith Weaver joined the meeting in Las Vegas, Nevada. 
 
Commissioner Gruenewald was excused from the remaining agenda items. 
 
5. Approval of Minutes of the September 16, 2015 and December 16, 2015 and January 20, 

2016 Commission Meetings. 
 

This agenda item was re-opened and called out of order.  Chair Lau stated that a quorum 
was now present to consider the September 16, 2015 and January 20, 2016 Commission 
Meeting Minutes. 

 



 

Page 4 of 6  

Commissioner Stewart stated that he was not a member of the Commission at the time of 
the September 16, 2016 Commission meeting and he would abstain from voting on those 
minutes. 

 
Commissioner Carpenter stated that he was excused from the January 20, 2016 

Commission meeting and he would abstain from voting on those minutes. 
 
Commissioner Shaw moved to approve the Minutes of the September 16, 2015 

Commission Meeting.  The motion was seconded by Commissioner Groover.  The motion was 
put to a vote and carried unanimously.  

 
Commissioner Shaw moved to approve the Minutes of the January 20, 2016 Commission 

Meeting.  The motion was second by Commissioner Stewart and Commissioner Groover.  The 
motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously. 

 
6. Discussion and consideration of a Proposed Stipulation concerning Third-Party Request 

for Opinion No. 14-79C regarding Mike Lemich, Commissioner, White Pine County Board of 
Commissioners, submitted pursuant to NRS 281A.440(2). 
 
 Richard Sears, Esq. appeared via telephone on behalf of the Subject Mike Lemich. 

Associate Counsel Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. appeared on behalf of the Commission.  
 
 Commissioner Carpenter disclosed he knew the Lemich family for many years, but he did 

not believe this relationship would hinder his ability to be unbiased with respect to this matter. 
 
 Executive Director Yvonne Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. disclosed that she served as the 

Commission Counsel at the time this Request for Opinion was received and therefore, upon her 
appointment by the Commission as Executive Director, the investigation was handled exclusively 
by Associate Counsel with no involvement from the Executive Director.   
 
 Commission Counsel Tracy L. Chase, Esq. gave an overview of the Request for Opinion 

and the proposed Stipulated Agreement.  Ms. Chase stated that the Stipulated Agreement 
includes one willful violation and imposes a fine of $500. 
 
 Mr. Sears concurred with Commission Counsel’s presentation. 
 
 Associate Counsel Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. presented the history and summary of the 

Stipulated Agreement.   
 
 Mr. Sears stated he and his client were in agreement with the terms of the Stipulation; 

however, he commented that Lemich found it offensive that donating land to the County has been 
construed in the Request for Opinion as Lemich trying to line his own pockets. 
 
 Commissioner Carpenter moved to accept the Stipulated Agreement in Request for 

Opinion 14-79C regarding Mike Lemich.  Commissioner Groover seconded the Motion.  The 
motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously. 

 
7. Report by Executive Director on agency status and operations. 

 
Executive Director Yvonne Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. reported a vacancy on the 

Commission remains and she has no specific timeline from the Governor’s office as to when an 
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appointment might be made.  She reported that Commissioner Shaw will be coming to the end of 
his second term in June and she will be seeking a subsequent appointment from the Legislative 
Commission. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson discussed the redacted Request for opinion Log (Case Log) that 

was provided to the Commission in their materials.  She reported on the current number of 
pending investigations and pending written opinions.  She commended Commission staff for 
working diligently to get Opinions drafted and published. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson reported that the Commission’s outreach and education has had a 

small recession during the winter months but expects to present several trainings scheduled 
during the next couple of weeks. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson discussed the upcoming Budget Request for FY18-19 as well as 

any Bill Draft Requests the Commission may propose.  She reported that April 15, 2016 is the 
deadline for the agency to submit a legislative concept summary to the Governor’s office for 
approval.  She requested that the Chair form a Legislative subcommittee to work with the 
Executive Director on the proposed statutory changes. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson reported that the Budget office has directed all State agencies to 

prepare a flat Budget Request, as well as back-up Budget Request that reflects a 5% cut that will 
be used in the event the State’s revenues fall short.   

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson stated she would request the Commission’s continued support for 

staff salary increases and certain title changes more in-line with the equivalent positions at the 
Commission on Judicial Discipline as well as other executive branch agencies. Ms. Nevarez-
Goodson acknowledged that the same positions within the Commission are not being budgetarily 
respected and she hopes to bring the issue to the Governor’s and Legislature’s attention next 
session, with the approval of the Commission.  She said this could be accomplished in two ways, 
either by seeking an enhancement to the agency budget or by finding appropriate cost savings in 
the current budget. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson again requested the Chair form a Subcommittee to vet legislative 

and budgetary issues for the 2017 Legislative Session.  The Chair acknowledged the request and 
confirmed she would appoint a Subcommittee at this meeting. 

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson reported that staff may propose regulatory changes and she is 

working with Commission Counsel Chase to determine the best approach going forward. She 
hopes the Legislative Subcommittee can assist with any regulatory changes in addition to the 
legislative issues.  Ms. Nevarez-Goodson discussed her participation in the Nevada Certified 
Public Manager Program and her Capstone Project which relates to the streamlining and 
improvement of the Commission’s case management and investigatory processes, which might 
be accomplished, in part, through these regulatory changes.  She stated the statutory deadline to 
submit these regulatory changes is July 1, 2016.  

 
Ms. Nevarez-Goodson discussed some of the digital upgrades staff has put in place in 

order to reduce staff time and other resources to compile meeting books.  She discussed the need 
to go digital for security reasons and explained that within the next few months each commissioner 
will have his/her own, state issued email address so that confidential information is not being sent 
to their personal email addresses.  She also discussed the hope of getting Commission-issued 
tablets for each Commission to use to access their electronic meeting materials and their state 
issued email.  She will continue to update the Commission as these changes come to fruition. Ms. 
Nevarez-Goodson welcomed feedback from the Commissioner’s regarding the digital upgrades. 
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8. Open Session for Commissioner Comment on matters including, without limitation, future 
agenda items, upcoming meeting dates and meeting procedures. 
 
 Chair Lau commended the Commission staff for all of their work on preparing the 
materials, and expressed her appreciation of the staff time to assist the Commissioners, making 
their jobs easier.   
 
 A Lunch recess was taken at 11:47 a.m.  The meeting reconvened at 12:46 p.m.  
 
 Chair Lau appointed Commissioners Groover, Shaw and Carpenter to the Legislative and 
Regulatory Subcommittee.  Executive Director Yvonne Nevarez-Goodson thanked the Chair for 
creating the Subcommittee. 
 

9. Open Session for Public Comment. 
 
No public comment. 
 

10. Adjournment. 
 

Commissioner Weaver moved to adjourn the meeting.  Commissioners Shaw and Groover 
seconded the motion.  The motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously.  The meeting 
adjourned at 1:45 p.m.  

 
 

Minutes prepared by:     Minutes approved April 20, 2016: 
 
        
Valerie Carter, CPM  Cheryl A. Lau, Esq. 
Executive Assistant      Chair 
 
        
Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq.   Keith A. Weaver, Esq. 
Executive Director   Vice-Chair     
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Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. (#8474) 
Executive Director 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 West Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, Nevada 89703 
(775) 687-5469 
Fax:  (775) 687-1279 
Email:  ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 
 
Executive Director for Nevada Commission on Ethics 
 

STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
 
In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct  Request for Opinion No. 14-70C  
of Shirley Matson, former Assessor, 
Nye County, Nevada 
 
              Subject. / 
 

 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S BRIEF REGARDING  

DETERMINATION OF WILLFULNESS AND SANCTIONS 
    Date of Hearing: April 20, 2016 
    Time of Hearing: 1:00 p.m. 
 
 Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq., Executive Director of the Nevada 

Commission on Ethics (“Commission”), hereby submits this Brief Regarding 

Determination of Willfulness and Sanctions.  

DATED this 12th day of April, 2016. 

YVONNE M. NEVAREZ-GOODSON, ESQ. 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
 
 

      By:  /s/ Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson  
       Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
       Executive Director 
       Nevada Commission on Ethics  
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

A. Background/Procedural History 

Third-Party Request for Opinion (“RFO”) No. 14-70C alleged that former Nye 

County Assessor, Shirley Matson (“Matson”) violated various provisions of the Ethics 

Law.  The Commission’s Investigatory Panel found just and sufficient cause for the 

Commission to hold a hearing and render an opinion in this matter based on credible 

evidence that Matson used her official position as the Assessor to benefit her private 

campaign for re-election and engage in official activities based on improper personal 

motivations by: 1) hindering Nye County Assessor’s Office employee (and Matson’s 

subordinate) Sheree Stringer’s (“Stringer”) political campaign, and when that failed, by 

issuing a Notice of County’s Intent to Terminate Stringer’s employment and related 

circumstances, in violation of NRS 281A.020 and 281A.400(1) and (2); 2) retaliating 

against a subordinate and terminating Nye County Assessor’s Office’s part-time, 

casual employee Tammy McGill (“McGill”) due to McGill’s husband’s role with respect 

to an investigation he was assigned as a volunteer Detective with the Nye County 

Sheriff’s Office and related matters, in violation of NRS 281A.020 and 281A.400(2); 

and 3) directing staff members to conduct certain reappraisals of property, through 

improper motive and unusual circumstances relating thereto, in violation of NRS 

281A.020 and 281A.400(7) and (9). 

After the Commission’s issuance of the Panel Determination and a Notice of 

Hearing and Scheduling Order to consider this matter, Subject Matson became 

nonresponsive and failed to confirm any intent to appear before the Commission.  In 

fact, the Commission issued four subsequent notices continuing the matter to provide 

ample opportunity for Subject to appear and provide evidence and/or arguments to the 

Commission.  With no response to any of the notices, the Commission’s Executive 

Director, through the Commission’s Associate Counsel, filed an Offer of Proof to hear 
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the matter in abstentia pursuant to NAC 281A.270, and, in the alternative, a Motion for 

Summary Judgment to resolve the RFO as a matter of law.   

Matson then retained legal counsel and a subsequent continuance was granted 

to provide yet another opportunity to appear and respond to the Offer of Proof and 

Motion for Summary Judgment.  Again, no response was submitted despite the 

Commission’s receipt of a letter of representation from Matson’s legal counsel and 

counsel’s confirmation of intent to respond to the various pleadings.  Accordingly, the 

facts were uncontested. 

B. Motion for Summary Judgment Granted March 16, 2016 

After its review of the procedural history and the uncontested and supported 

material facts, the Commission, on March 16, 2016, heard arguments of counsel and 

granted the Motion for Summary Judgment, concluding that Matson violated NRS 

281A.020 and NRS 281A.400(1), (2), (7) and (9), as a matter of law.   

C. Determination of Willfulness/Sanctions 

The Commission set for further hearing, a determination regarding whether 

Matson’s violations of the Ethics Law are willful and subject to any sanctions under 

NRS 281A.480.  The Commission requested arguments of the Executive Director and 

Subject’s counsel regarding the determination of willfulness and sanctions.  This Brief 

seeks the Commission’s determination that Matson’s conduct in violation of NRS 

281A was willful and should be subject to civil sanctions under NRS 281A.480. 

The Commission should also take notice of its prior decision involving similar 

conduct by Matson in In re Matson, Comm’n Opinion No. 11-67C (2014).  In that case, 

the Commission concluded that Matson committed two willful violations of the Ethics 

Law for her ethical misconduct in relation to her official duties in conflict with her 

private interests during a recall environment.  The Commission found that Matson’s 

conduct, including retaliation and reprisals toward subordinates during her private 

campaign against a recall and misuse of government resources during the recall 

constituted two willful violations with sanctions of $4,000 and $1,000, respectively.   
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Notably, the Commission granted leniency against moving for Matson’s 

removal from office, mindful that she was new to public office and to promote 

education regarding her ethical responsibilities.  Less than one year after the issuance 

of that decision, the Commission received the current RFO alleging similar 

misconduct.  In granting the Motion for Summary Judgment, the Commission has now 

determined that conduct violated various provisions of NRS 281A.  These violations 

are undoubtedly willful given the circumstances and history. 

II. STANDARDS OF LAW 

 Having already determined that Matson violated various provisions of NRS 

281A, the Commission must also determine whether her conduct in violation of the 

Ethics Law was willful and therefore subject to civil (monetary) sanctions.  The Ethics 

Law specifically defines the standard for willfulness, outlines various mitigating factors 

that may be considered for a determination of willfulness and authorizes the 

Commission to impose various sanctions for willful violations.   

A. Standard for Willful Violations 
 
NRS 281A.170  “Willful violation” defined.  “Willful violation” 
means a violation where: 

1.  The public officer or employee: 
(a) Acted intentionally and knowingly; or 
(b) Was in a situation where this chapter imposed a duty to act 

and the public officer or employee intentionally and knowingly failed to 
act in the manner required by this chapter; and 

2.  The Commission determines, after applying the factors set 
forth in NRS 281A.475, that the public officer’s or employee’s act or 
failure to act resulted in a sanctionable violation of this chapter. 

 
 (Emphasis Added). 

 
NRS 281A.105  “Intentionally” defined.  “Intentionally” 

means voluntarily or deliberately, rather than accidentally or 
inadvertently. The term does not require proof of bad faith, ill will, 
evil intent or malice. 

 
(Emphasis Added). 
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NRS 281A.115  “Knowingly” defined.  “Knowingly” imports a 
knowledge that the facts exist which constitute the act or omission, and 
does not require knowledge of the prohibition against the act or 
omission. Knowledge of any particular fact may be inferred from the 
knowledge of such other facts as should put an ordinarily prudent person 
upon inquiry. 

 
(Emphasis Added). 

 
NRS 281A.475  Standards for determining whether violation 

is willful violation and amount of civil penalty imposed (As 
Amended by Assembly Bill 60, 2015 Legislative Session) 

1.  In determining whether a violation of this chapter is a willful 
violation and, if so, the amount of any civil penalty to be imposed on a 
public officer or employee or former public officer or employee pursuant 
to NRS 281A.480, the Commission shall consider[:] , without limitation: 

(a) The seriousness of the violation, including, without limitation, 
the nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of the violation; 

(b) The number and history of previous warnings issued to or 
violations of the provisions of this chapter by the public officer or 
employee; 

(c) The cost to the Commission to conduct the investigation and 
any hearing relating to the violation; 

(d) Any mitigating factors, including, without limitation, any self-
reporting, prompt correction of the violation, any attempts to rectify the 
violation before any complaint is filed and any cooperation by the public 
officer or employee in resolving the complaint; 

(e) Any restitution or reimbursement paid to parties affected by 
the violation; 

(f) The extent of any financial gain resulting from the violation; 
and 

(g) Any other matter justice may require. 
2.   The factors set forth in this section are not exclusive 

or exhaustive, and the Commission may consider other factors in 
the disposition of the matter if they bear a reasonable relationship 
to the Commission’s determination of the severity of the violation. 

3. In applying the factors set forth in this section, the Commission 
shall treat comparable situations in a comparable manner and shall 
ensure that the disposition of the matter bears a reasonable relationship 
to the severity of the violation. 
 
 
 
/// 
 
/// 
 
///



   

Page 6 of 14 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

B. Sanctions 
 
NRS 281A.480  Commission authorized to impose civil penalties; 
duties of Commission upon finding willful violation; circumstances 
in which violation not deemed willful; effect of chapter upon 
criminal law; judicial review; burden of proof. (As Amended by 
Assembly Bill 60, 2015 Legislative Session) 
 

1.  In addition to any other penalties provided by law and in 
accordance with the provisions of NRS 281A.475, the Commission may 
impose on a public officer or employee or former public officer or 
employee civil penalties: 

(a) Not to exceed $5,000 for a first willful violation of this chapter; 
(b) Not to exceed $10,000 for a separate act or event that 

constitutes a second willful violation of this chapter; and 
(c) Not to exceed $25,000 for a separate act or event that 

constitutes a third willful violation of this chapter. 
… 
4.  In addition to any other penalties provided by law, if a 

proceeding results in an opinion that: 
… 
(c) One or more willful violations of this chapter have been 

committed by a public officer other than a public officer described in 
paragraphs (a) and (b), the willful violations shall be deemed to be 
malfeasance in office for the purposes of NRS 283.440 and the 
Commission: 

(1) May file a complaint in the appropriate court for removal of 
the public officer pursuant to NRS 283.440 when the public officer is 
found in the opinion to have committed fewer than three willful violations 
of this chapter. 

(2) Shall file a complaint in the appropriate court for removal of 
the public officer pursuant to NRS 283.440 when the public officer is 
found in the opinion to have committed three or more willful violations of 
this chapter. 
- This paragraph grants an exclusive right to the Commission, and no 
other person may file a complaint against the public officer pursuant to 
NRS 283.440 based on any violation found in the opinion. 

5.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, any act 
or failure to act by a public officer or employee or former public officer or 
employee relating to this chapter is not a willful violation of this 
chapter if the public officer or employee establishes by sufficient 
evidence that: 

(a) The public officer or employee relied in good faith upon the 
advice of the legal counsel retained by his or her public body, agency or 
employer; and 
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  (b)  The advice of the legal counsel was: 
          (1)  Provided to the public officer or employee before the 
public officer or employee acted or failed to act; and 
          (2)  Based on a reasonable legal determination by the legal 
counsel under the circumstances when the advice was given that 
the act or failure to act by the public officer or employee [was] 
would not be contrary to [a] any prior published opinion issued by the 
Commission [.] which was publicly available on the Internet 
website of the Commission. 

… 
8.  The imposition of a civil penalty pursuant to subsection 1, 2 

or 3 is a final decision for the purposes of judicial review pursuant to 
NRS 233B.130. 

9.  A finding by the Commission that a public officer or employee 
has violated any provision of this chapter must be supported by a 
preponderance of the evidence unless a greater burden is otherwise 
prescribed by law. 
 

III. LEGAL ANALYSIS  

A. Matson’s conduct in using her official position to retaliate against 
and terminate subordinate staff Stringer and McGill to establish an 
advantage in her private political campaign constitutes a course of 
conduct resulting in a single willful violation of the Ethics Law, 
implicating NRS 281A.020 and NRS 281A.400(1) and (2). 

 
1. Stringer and McGill Terminations – Single Violation 

The Ethics Law prohibits a superior public officer from using his or her position 

to discipline and/or terminate a subordinate in order to gain an economic opportunity 

or unwarranted advantage in a political campaign or retaliate against an employee for 

personal motivations.  The Ethics Law is designed, in part, to prevent any abuse of 

authority in an election setting, and Matson’s Intent to Terminate Stringer to benefit 

her private campaign for re-election and termination of McGill as retaliation in the 

surrounding circumstances crossed the ethical line.  Although the Commission does 

not opine on matters strictly involving employment laws and personnel issues within 

the public sector, Matson’s conduct has implicated the very underpinnings of the 

Ethics Law within the context of employment and personnel issues. (See In re Matson, 

Comm’n Opinion No. 11-67C (2014))  In granting the Motion for Summary Judgment, 

the Commission has concluded that Matson’s conduct in relation to Stringer, her 

subordinate and opponent during her campaign for re-election, and Matson’s 
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termination of another subordinate, McGill, in the surrounding circumstances related 

to the campaign and retaliatory motives, violated NRS 281A.020, 281A.400(1) and (2). 

The Commission granted the Motion for Summary Judgment, effectively 

determining that Matson committed as many as 5 violations of the Ethics Law for each 

of the statutes implicated by her conduct.  However, the Commission has more 

consistently determined that multiple violations of the Ethics Law arising out of the 

same course of conduct constitutes a single violation, and the Commission weighs the 

significance of the conduct in its determination of willfulness and the amount of any 

sanction.  In this instance, Matson engaged in a series of activities motivated by her 

bid for re-election and personal retaliation.  These activities, while independently 

significant, originated out of the same circumstances and resulted in the same overall 

mishandling of employment circumstances to benefit personal interests.   

Accordingly, the Commission should consider all of the conduct resulting in 

employment retaliation against subordinates Springer and McGill as a course of 

conduct constituting a single violation of the Ethics Law, implicating all of the 

aforementioned statutes, NRS 281A.020 and 281A.400(1) and (2).  Matson’s conduct 

in each and every instance related to this matter was both knowing and intentional, 

and laced with evidence of bad faith.  Given the nature of the conduct, combined with 

Matson’s history of ethical violations in similar circumstances, this violation should be 

declared willful and subject to a significant sanction.   

2. Willfulness and Sanctions 

a. Willfulness  

Under the Ethics Law, a willful violation is based upon conduct that was 

intentional and knowing.  The legislative history enacting these provisions governing 

the definition of a willful violation of NRS 281A requires the Commission to interpret 

the meanings of “intentional” and “knowing” consistent with Nevada case law. See 

Legislative Minutes of Assembly Committee on Elections, Procedures, Ethics and 
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Constitutional Amendments and Senate Committee on Judiciary regarding Senate Bill 

160 of the 2009 Nevada Legislature.  

1) Intentional 

For an act to be intentional, NRS 281A.105 requires only that Matson acted 

“voluntarily and deliberately.” See In re Fine v. Nevada Commission on Judicial 

Discipline, 116 Nev. 1001 (2000) (“the relevant inquiry regarding willful misconduct is 

an inquiry into the intentional nature of the actor's conduct.”).  Matson deliberately and 

intentionally engaged in personnel matters which affected her personal interests 

related to her campaign and were motivated by retaliation.  Her conduct was not 

accidental or inadvertent. 

Although the law does not require proof that the intentional behavior was 

engaged in bad faith or with malicious motive to be deemed willful, the facts in this 

matter clearly demonstrate that Matson’s conduct was intended with malicious and 

retaliatory motives, particularly as Matson had already been sanctioned by this 

Commission for similar conduct.  Matson had a significant negative history with her 

subordinate and opponent in the election and created an employment atmosphere 

ripe with retaliation and reprisal, all in the course of a contested election.  The element 

of this malicious behavior provides substantial support for the Commission to impose 

a meaningful sanction for this violation. 

2) Knowing 

The Ethics Law also requires that Matson had knowledge of her actions.  

Again, Matson initiated and had knowledge that she was making adverse employment 

decisions regarding her subordinates during the course and scope of her private 

campaign and based upon retaliation and improper motives.  NRS 281A.115 defines 

“knowingly” as “import[ing] a knowledge that the facts exist which constitute the act or 

omission, and does not require knowledge of the prohibition against the act or 

omission.” Further, the definition states that “[k]nowledge of any particular fact may be 
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inferred from the knowledge of such other facts as should put an ordinarily prudent 

person upon inquiry.”  

NRS 281A does not require that Matson had actual knowledge that her conduct 

violated NRS 281A but it does impose constructive knowledge on a public officer 

when other facts are present that should put an ordinarily prudent person upon 

inquiry. See Garcia v. The Sixth Judicial District Court of Nevada, 117 Nev. 697 

(2001) (“constructive knowledge fulfills a statutory requirement that an act be done 

‘knowingly.'  State of mind need not be proved by positive or direct evidence but may 

be inferred from conduct and the facts and circumstances disclosed by the evidence.”) 

and State v. Rhodig, 101 Nev. 608 (1985) (“… the law does not require knowledge 

that such an act or omission is unlawful.”). 

Matson knew of her conflict of interest with regard to Stringer and McGill in 

relation to her pending bid for re-election and her private motivations for retaliation.  

She had been reminded of the appropriate separation in these endeavors by the 

Commission as well as the Human Resources Department of Nye County.  Matson 

intentionally and knowingly acted in contravention of her conflict of interest. 

3) No Mitigating Circumstances 

NRS 281A.475 requires the Commission to consider whether the existence of 

any mitigating factors warrant a conclusion that the violation of NRS 281A was not 

willful.  However, the Commission may also consider the totality of the circumstances 

in its determination of willfulness even where certain mitigating factors may be 

present.  Of the stated factors in NRS 281A.475, Matson may not have received 

financial gain as a result of her actions, but the seriousness and gravity of the conduct 

combined with the prior history of ethics violations for similar conduct provides 

significant support for the Commission’s finding of willfulness in this matter.  

Furthermore, Matson’s non-responsiveness and delay in this matter clearly evidence 

that she has not been cooperative, or attempted to correct or rectify her behavior or 

reduce costs to the Commission for its investigation and hearing in this matter. 
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b. Sanction 

The Commission has found nominal or minimal sanctions for willful conduct 

that does not include an element of bad faith or reckless disregard for the Ethics Law.  

However, in this case, Matson engaged in conduct which was done in bad faith, 

malicious intent and disregard for the Commission’s prior advice in these 

circumstances.  Therefore, the Executive Director requests that the Commission 

impose a significant civil penalty for this violation in the amount of $5,000.  The 

Commission will note that Ms. Matson has a history of ethics violations for similar 

conduct within the last 5 years, for which the Commission likewise imposed a total 

sanction of $5,000.   

The Commission would have the legal authority to impose a significantly higher 

penalty not to exceed $25,000, as this violation constitutes Matson’s third willful 

violation of the Ethics Law.  Under NRS 281A.480, the Commission may impose a fine 

not to exceed $25,000 for a third willful violation of the Ethics Law.  The proposed 

sanction of $5,000 strikes a balance between the seriousness of the conduct at issue 

in this matter with Matson’s status as a former public officer who is no longer serving 

in public office.  Accordingly, the public trust is no longer triggered by her role as the 

Assessor for Nye County. 

B. Matson’s conduct in using her official position to wrongfully 
reappraise property of certain public officials with whom she had 
personal animus constitutes a course of conduct resulting in a 
single willful violation of the Ethics Law, implicating NRS 281A.020 
and 281A.400(7) and (9). 

 

Matson used her position as the Assessor to wrongfully reappraise Joni 

Eastley’s primary residence in Tonopah, Nevada, and attempted to do the same with 

Human Resources Manager Danelle Shamrell’s residence and, as such, used 

governmental resources, including staff, for her own personal benefit.  This was an 

improper use of government time, resources and staff for a personal benefit and 

violated the Ethics Law, implicating NRS 281A.020 and 281A.400(7) and (9).  
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Matson used government time and resources through the use of her 

subordinate to benefit her personal interest. Matson’s personal interest was her 

personal animus against both Eastley and Shamrell.  Matson, out of revenge and 

retaliation for actions that occurred in Matson, Comm’n Opinion No. 11-67C (2014), 

ordered her subordinate to reappraise the property of Eastley and Shamrell.  This was 

a misuse of a government employee and resources for a personal vendetta.  Matson’s 

decision to require the reappraisals of the Eastley and Shamrell’s property 

contravened statutory provisions, and evidence supports that her decision was 

motivated by the personal history between the women. Therefore, the evidence 

supports a violation of NRS 281A.400(7) and (9), and NRS 281A.020, and summary 

judgment was properly granted in this matter. 

For all of the same reasons and justifications stated above, this conduct should 

constitute a second course of conduct resulting in another single willful violation of the 

Ethics Law, based on Matson’s bad faith and malicious motives to ignore her 

responsibilities as an elected official under the Ethics Law.  Accordingly, the Executive 

Director again recommends a sanction in the amount of $5,000.  Again, no mitigating 

factors support a conclusion that this violation should not be deemed willful. 

V. CONCLUSION 

Matson’s conduct all relates back to the tensions as a result of the campaign 

and motivated by retaliation for involvement by subordinates and other County 

employees in efforts against Matson’s role as the Assessor.  As the incumbent elected 

officer and supervisor of her opponent in the election, Matson had an obligation to 

ensure that her official actions during the campaign could not be improperly influenced 

by her private interests in the campaign or motivated by retaliation, therefore Matson 

wilfully violated NRS 281A.400(1) and (2) and NRS 281A.020 through her actions 

against Stringer and McGill. 

Matson had further conflicts and disagreements with various Nye County 

Officials, in particular then-Nye County Commissioner Joni Eastley (and current 
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Assistant County Manager) and Nye County Human Resources Director Danelle 

Shamrell (“Officials”). Both Officials had disagreements with Matson regarding various 

actions taken by Matson after her initial election as the Assessor, had been involved in 

a County reprimand of Matson for alleged racist comments, and had supported a 

recall petition against Matson after her initial election to office.   

With this history as the backdrop, Matson’s direction to a subordinate staff 

appraiser to reappraise the properties of the Officials is evidence of a personal 

vendetta and/or improper motivation.  State law permits reappraisals of property under 

limited and specific circumstances and Matson’s decision to require the reappraisals 

of the Officials’ property contravened statutory provisions.  Therefore, the evidence 

supports that Matson’s decision was motivated by the personal history between the 

women and supports a finding a willful violation of NRS 281A.400(7) and (9), and NRS 

281A.020.   

Based on these events and consistent with the Commission’s decision to grant 

Summary Judgment, the Executive Director recommends and requests that the 

Commission conclude that Matson’s actions constituted two separate courses of 

conduct resulting in two willful violations of the Ethics Law, implicating all of the 

aforementioned statutes.  For these two willful violations, the Executive Director urges 

the Commission to impose two separate monetary sanctions, $5,000 each, for a total 

sanction of $10,000 in this matter.  Consistent with past practice, the Commission may 

authorize the Executive Director and Subject to enter into a payment schedule not to 

exceed one year after the Commission’s final decision in this matter. 

DATED this 11th day of April, 2016. 

NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
 

 
      /s/ Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson  
      Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
      Executive Director 
      Nevada Commission on Ethics  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on this 
day in Carson City, Nevada, I deposited for mailing, via Email, regular U.S. Postal Service and 
certified mail, return receipt requested, through the State of Nevada mailroom, a true and 
correct copy of the Brief Regarding Determination of Willfulness and Sanctions in 
Request for Opinion No. 14-70C, addressed as follows: 
 
Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
Commission Counsel 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, Nevada 89703 

 

Email:  tchase@ethics.nv.gov 
 
 

Lisa A. Rasmussen, Esq. 
The Law Office of Lisa Rasmussen 
601 South 10th Street, 
  Suite 100 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
     Attorney for Subject 
 
Tammy McGill 
P.O. Box 625 
Pahrump, NV 89041 
 

Email:  Lisa@LRassmussenLaw.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Email:  TM3022@hotmail.com 
 
 

  
DATED:     April 11, 2016     
 An employee, Nevada Commission on Ethics 
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LISA A. RASMUSSEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 007491 
LAW OFFICE OF LISA RASMUSSEN, P.C. 
601 South 10th Street, Suite #100 
Las Vegas, NV 89101  
Tel. (702) 471-1436 
Fax. (702) 489-6619 
Email: Lisa@LRasmussenLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Shirley Matson 
 
 

STATE OF NEVADA 

BEFORE THE COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 
 

IN THE MATTER OF THE THIRD PARTY 
REQUEST FOR OPINION CONCERNING 
THE CONDUCT OF SHIRLEY MATSON, 
FORMER ASSESSOR, NYE COUNTY, 
NEVADA 
 
                                                    SUBJECT. 

 
 

Case No.:  14-70c 
 
 
SHIRLEY MATSON’S BRIEF IN 
MITIGATION OF THE 
COMMISSION’S FINDING 
 
 
  
 
 

 COMES NOW Shirley Matson, by and through the undersigned counsel 

and hereby submits her brief in mitigation of this Commission’s findings for this 

Commission’s further consideration of an appropriate penalty. 

I. 

Ms. Matson’s Requests for Legal Counsel Have Previously Been Denied 

 At the prior proceedings against Ms. Matson, she tendered the Ethics 

Complaint to Nye County seeking counsel’s assistance and the request was 

denied.  She was told it “did not qualify.”   

 As the undersigned noted during these proceedings, she had tendered a 

request and had heard no response.  That is still the case. This Commission 

should be mindful of Nye County’s duty to respond to the request for conduct 

which occurred while Ms. Matson was a public official.  The undersigned 

submits this information nonetheless, because Ms. Matson’s circumstances 

deserve a response, despite her inability to pay for counsel. 
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 Additionally, when the undersigned explained this situation at the 

hearing in March, 2016, the Commission nonetheless moved forward and 

determined that Ms. Matson had not responded to the Motion for Summary 

Judgment and as a result, the Motion should be granted.  It is not inaccurate to 

stated that the result was as much a default determination as anything else 

because there was no consideration given to the arguments raised by the 

undersigned at the hearing but instead it was a pro forma, “she failed to 

respond,” so we should grant the Motion and enter the findings.   

 See Exhibit 1, prior denial “explanation” or excuse. 

 

II. 

The Conduct Of Ms. Stringer Was A Violation of Law 

 Regardless of whether or not the Nye County Sheriff prosecuted Ms. 

Stringer for her unlawful recording of Ms. Matson, Ms. Stringer’s conduct was a 

crime.    NRS §200.650 prohibits the unauthorized surreptitious intrusion of 

privacy by a listening device.  Ms. Stringer placed a spy camera recording devise 

in the Nye County Assessor’s office while she was gone for over a month, to 

observe and listen to Ms. Matson in violation of NRS 200.650.   This conduct is a 

category D felony under the laws of the State of Nevada. 

 Upon discovering the spy camera and recording device, Ms. Matson 

contacted human resources and asked permission to terminate Ms. Stringer.  

She was not told that she could not terminate Ms. Stringer.   

 There was no personal benefit to Ms. Matson in terminating Ms. Stringer 

other than removing an employee who committed unauthorized and illegal acts 

against not only Ms. Maston, but other Nye County employees. 

III. 

Ms. McGill Was A Temporary Worker 

 Ms. Stringer did not need permission from human resources to terminate 

Ms. McGill who was an unqualified part time employee.  Ms. Stringer 
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terminated her and requested funding to hire a qualified mapping 

administrative assistant.  This was within her job function.  There was no 

personal benefit to Ms. Matson from terminating Ms. McGill.  Ms. McGill was 

hired in February 2014 as a temporary worker on a six month contract. There 

was nothing improper about terminating her.  See attached, Exhibit 2. 

 

IV. 

Joni Eastley Property Re-Evaluation 

 Ms. Matson requested the re-evaluation of a host of Nye County 

properties, including Ms. Eastley’s.   This Commission’s issue with this was that 

it was not done during the regular re-appraisal assessment roll period.  Ms. 

Eastley’s was a public official.  Ms. Matson noticed that her property was 

substantially under-valued in the assessor rolls.  She requested it and several 

other parcels be reappraised. This benefits Nye County and Ms. Matson was a 

publicly elected official.  It is her job to ensure that property taxes are paid in an 

appropriate amount.  It should be noted that Ms. Eastley’s property valuations 

have decreased from 2014 to 2016.  There was no benefit to Ms. Matson for 

requesting that the property be re-evaluated.   

 Ms. Matson was requesting evaluation of several parcels and she was 

doing so at the request of the State Board of Taxation and in consultation with 

Mr. Kunzi.  See Exhibit 3.  There was no special selection of Joni Eastley. 

 

IV. 

Nye County’s Ongoing Animous Toward Ms. Stringer 

 Ms. Matson has been disliked since she first took office.  She moved to 

Pahrump from California and underestimated the hatred that she would 

encounter as an “outsider.”   She was the most qualified Assessor Nye County 

has had in recent years, far more qualified than Sheree Stringer.  Ms. Matson 

would not “play ball” and grant favors for people who asked for them, including 
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Sheree Stringer and Brian Kunzi.  She would not participate in unethical 

conduct, unlawful conduct, or the day-to-day corruption that occurs and 

continues to occur in Nye County.   

 A unsuccessful recall election was waged against Ms. Matson with Nye 

County officials accusing her of being racist because she asked about “E-

verification cards” for construction workers building the Pahrump contract 

detention facility.  Nye County officials hardly have a reputation as the 

guardians of civil rights and anti-discrimination policy, but none-the-less this 

was their attempt to get rid of Ms. Matson. The attempt failed, so “ethics 

violations” were filed with this Commission to punish Ms. Matson instead.  

There, as here, she found herself responding without the assistance of counsel, 

to these proceedings. 

 This is all about revenge for a handful of Nye County employees and 

officials who like to make sure things are done however they want, with no 

outside interference from anyone who might question them.   Some of the 

Animus toward Ms. Matson is evidenced in the attachments hereto in Exhibit 4. 

 

V. 

Ms. Matson is No Longer The Assessor And There is No  

Need to “Further Punish Her” 

 Ms. Matson was not re-elected in fact she lost the 2014 election to Sheree 

Stringer the alleged “victim” herein.   There is no need to establish a fine to 

“punish Ms. Matson” because she no longer holds office and there is need to 

deter her from future official misconduct.   

 After Ms. Matson left office in early January 2015, she had to seek 

counseling to overcome what can best be described as a four year campaign of 

harassment. She became physically ill from the ongoing drama and was later 

diagnosed with physical symptoms resulting from the stress.  This was during 

the time period of February through September 2015, also when she was “not 
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responding” regularly to this Commission.   

 Ms. Matson’s husband was diagnosed with late stage cancer in 

approximately September 2015.   The cancer has since traveled to his brain.  

She is his only caregiver as his adult daughter lives in Vancouver.  They travel 

to Las Vegas for chemotherapy treatments.  They are trying to sell their house 

in Pahrump to pay for the expenses that are not covered by insurance.  See 

Exhibit 5.   Furthermore, Ms. Matson’s mother died in late February 2016.  As a 

result of her husband’s illness and her mother’s death she did not feel that she 

was able to appear at the March 2016 hearing in this matter. She also has a 

defeatist attitude that no matter what information she presents, this 

Commission will find against her.  She is tired and overwhelmed at this point 

and feels like the only thing she should be focusing on is her dying husband.   

 It would be inappropriate to further penalize Ms. Matson at this time and 

it is respectfully requested that this Commission impose no monetary penalty 

against Ms. Matson. 

 Sumbitted this 11th day of April, 2016. 

      Law Office of Lisa Rasmussen, 

       /s/ Lisa A. Rasmussen 

      __________________________________ 

      LISA A. RASMUSSEN, ESQ. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that I sent a copy of the foregoing, MITIGATION 

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF SHIRLEY MATSON, to the following persons on this 

11th day of April, 2016: 

 Tracy L. Chase, Esq. Tchase@ethics.nv.gov 

 Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 

 Darcy Heyden dheyden@ethics.nv.gov 

 

      /s/ Lisa A. Rasmussen 

     ____________________________________ 

     LISA A. RASMUSSEN, ESQ. 

mailto:Tchase@ethics.nv.gov
mailto:ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov
mailto:dheyden@ethics.nv.gov
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Assessor Home Personal Property Sales Data Secured Tax Inquiry Recorder Website

Parcel Detail for Parcel #  008-181-21

Location
Property Location 1200 IDAHO CIRCLE

Add'l Addresses

Assessor Maps

Legal Description

Town TONOPAH
District 7.0 - TONOPAH

Subdivision Lot Block
Property Name PT.TONOPAH #3 MINING CLAIM .92

Ownership
Assessed Owner Name EASTLEY,DENNIS & JONI L

Ownership History

Document History

Mailing Address
Add'l Owners

P O BOX 1729
TONOPAH, NV 89049-1729

Legal Owner Name EASTLEY,DENNIS & JONI L
Vesting Doc #, Date 812939  02/20/14   Book / Page /

Map Document #s

Description
Total Acres .920 Square Feet 40,000

Ag Acres .000 W/R Acres .000
Improvements

Single-family Detached 1 Non-dwelling Units 0 Bedrooms / Baths 0 / .00
Single-family Attached 0 Mobile Home Hookups 0 Stories 1.0

Multiple-family Units 0 Wells 0 Garage Square Ft... 713
Mobile Homes 0 Septic Tanks 0 Attached / Detached D

Total Dwelling Units 1 Buildings Sq Ft 0

Improvement List

Improvement Sketches

Residence Sq Ft 2,419
Basement Sq Ft 0 Basement               

Finished Basement SF 0 Bedrooms / Baths 0 / .00

Appraisal Classifications

Current Land Use Code 200 Code Table

Zoning Code(s)

Re-appraisal Group 5 Re-appraisal Year 2015
Original Construction Year 1958 Weighted Year

Assessed Valuation
Assessed Values 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15
  Land   4,809    4,008    6,412  
  Improvements   27,188    28,030    27,752  
  Personal Property   0    0    0  
  Ag Land   0    0    0  
  Exemptions   0    0    0  

Net Assessed Value   31,997    32,038    34,164  

Increased (New) Values
  Land   0    0    0  
  Improvements   0    0    0  
  Personal Property   0    0    0  

Taxable Valuation
Taxable Values 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15
  Land   13,740    11,451    18,320  
  Improvements   77,680    80,086    79,291  
  Personal Property   0    0    0  
  Ag Land   0    0    0  
  Exemptions   0    0    0  

Net Taxable Value   91,420    91,537    97,611  

Increased (New) Values
  Land   0    0    0  
  Improvements   0    0    0  
  Personal Property   0    0    0  

Back to Search List

Page 1 of 1Assessor Data Inquiry - Secured Property Detail

4/11/2016http://asdb.co.nye.nv.us:1401/cgi-bin/asw101?Parcel=818121&aori=a
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Request for Opinion No. 14-70C 
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STATE OF NEVADA  
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of 
Shirley Matson, Assessor, Nye County, 
State of Nevada, 
                   Subject. / 

Request for Opinion No. 14-70C 
 

  
 

NOTICE OF HEARING AND SCHEDULING ORDER 
REGARDING BRIEFING 

 
Notice of Hearing 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) will 

consider Hearing Briefs regarding Willful Violations, including any associated Mitigating 
Factors and Penalties (See NRS 281A.475 and 281A.480) and hold a hearing thereon, in the 
matter of Third Party Request for Opinion No. 14-70C at the following time and location: 

 
The Hearing Will Take Place: 

 
Wednesday, April 20, 2016 at 1:00 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the 

Commission is able to hear the matter, at the following location: 
 

Nevada Commission on Tourism 
Laxalt Building - Second Floor Chambers 

401 North Carson Street 
Carson City, NV 89701 

 
and via video-conference to: 

 
Governor’s Office of Economic Development 

555 E. Washington Ave, Suite 5400 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 

 
The hearing will assist the Commission to determine whether the violations of NRS 

Chapter 281A, the Ethics in Government Law (“Ethics Law”), set forth in the Motion for Summary 
Judgment Granted by the Commission on March 16, 2016, should be deemed willful under NRS 
281A.475 and whether any penalties and related fines should be imposed by the Commission 
pursuant to NRS 281A.480. 

 
Scheduling Order 

 
The Commission’s Executive Director and Associate Counsel and the Subject (hereafter 

referred to respectively as a “Party” or the “Parties,” as applicable) shall comply with the following 
scheduling order: 

 



 
 

 
Notice of Hearing and Scheduling Order Regarding Briefing 

Request for Opinion No. 14-70C 
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1. APPEARANCE.   
 

Subject Matson, through her attorney, has confirmed that a Hearing Brief (“Brief”) will be 
submitted and appearance will be made to provide oral argument at the noticed hearing. If for any 
reason, Subject or her attorney are unable to attend the hearing, Subject’s attorney has 
confirmed, on the record of proceedings held before the Commission on March 16, 2016, that 
there is no objection to the Commission proceeding to hear the matter without oral argument. 

 
2. HEARING BRIEFS   

 
 On or before Monday, April 11, 2016, the Parties shall submit written Briefs addressing 
the willfulness of the violations set forth in the Motion for Summary Judgment and associated 
penalty, if any, in accordance with NRS 281A.475, NRS 281A.480, relevant provisions of Chapter 
281A of the Nevada Administrative Code, and precedential opinions of the Commission. Briefs 
shall be limited to ten (10) pages in length. 

 
The Parties shall submit the Briefs not later than 5:30 p.m. (the Commission’s close of 

business) on Monday, April 11, 2016, to the Office of the Commission located at 704 W. Nye 
Lane, Suite 204, Carson City, Nevada 89703, care of Commission Counsel, Tracy L. Chase, Esq., 
or electronically to Ms. Chase at tchase@ethics.nv.gov.  

 
In addition, each party shall serve their Brief on the other party by physical delivery or 

electronic mail not later than 5:30 p.m. on Monday, April 11, 2016 as follows: 
 

 
Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 

Executive Director 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 

Carson City NV 89703 
ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 

 
Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
Commission Counsel 

Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 

Carson City NV 89703 
jprutzman@ethics.nv.gov 

 

 
Lisa A. Rasmussen, Esq. 

The Law Office of Lisa Rasmussen 
601 South 10th Street, 

  Suite 100 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 

Lisa@LRassmussenLaw.com  
 

 
A certificate of service shall be included verifying service as required herein. 

 
3. EXTENSIONS AND CONTINUANCES. 

 
No extensions of the deadlines will be considered unless submitted in writing 5 days prior 

to the established deadline and provide good cause for such request. Extensions or continuances 
are not effective until and unless approved by the Chair of the Commission or her designee. 

 
DATED:       March 30, 2016    /s/ Tracy L. Chase  
 Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
 Commission Counsel 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on this day 
in Carson City, Nevada, I deposited for mailing, via Email, regular U.S. Postal Service and certified 
mail, return receipt requested, through the State of Nevada mailroom, a true and correct copy of 
the NOTICE OF HEARING AND SCHEDULING ORDER REGARDING BRIEFING in Request 
for Opinion No. 14-70C, addressed as follows: 
 

Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, Nevada 89703 
 

Email:  ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 
 
 

Lisa A. Rasmussen, Esq. 
The Law Office of Lisa Rasmussen 
601 South 10th Street, 
  Suite 100 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
     Attorney for Subject 
 
Tammy McGill 
P.O. Box 625 
Pahrump, NV 89041 
 

Email:  Lisa@LRassmussenLaw.com 
 
 
 
 
 
Email:  TM3022@hotmail.com 
 
 

  
DATED:     March 30, 2016     
 An employee, Nevada Commission on Ethics 
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L. LANCE GILMAN 

November 13, 2014 

Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson 
Commission Counsel/ Acting Executive Director 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Street, Suite 204 
Carson City, Nevada 89703 

Subject: RFO 14-73C 

Dear Ms. Nevarez-Goodson, 

~ ~©~~w~ ~ 
NOV 2 4 2014 

1i.O. @ 1:1..fl.f f.M. 

COMMISSION 
ON ETHICS 

The purpose ofthis letter is to respond to Request for Opinion No. 14-73C. This 
response provides evidence establishing the charges by Sheriff Antinoro are baseless. 

I. 

BACKGROUND 

During the recent campaign season, it was reported to Mr. Gilman and others that Sheriff 
Antinoro had made numerous comments to attempt to embarrass, belittle, and discredit Lance 
Gilman, perhaps because Lance Gilman and affiliated companies, including Tahoe-Reno 
Industrial Center openly supported Mr. Antinoro's opponent in this year's Storey County 
Sheriffs election. One of these comments occurred on or about June 2, 2014, as reported in 
the Lockwood Area Blog (attached to the RFO). The blog author, Tim Kelly, indicated that he 
was given an interview by Sheriff Antinoro and his deputy. Mr. Kelly's post then included the 
following: 

"There had been an incident at the Mustang Ranch brothel near Patrick that we 
also talked about. Two sex workers were working without the necessary 
medical clearance the law demands. Sheriff Antinoro fined the brothel even 
though it is owned by a highly placed County official who seems to have 
1expected special considerations that were not forthcoming. Sheriff Antinoro 

1 It should be noted that Sheriff Antinoro later admitted in the Woodmansee interview that no sex workers were 
cited for working without medical clearances, but that "his office cited seven people in the Mustang Ranch for 
working without their work cards." Even this attempted clarification statement by Antinoro is untrue. Three of the 
workers cited worked for the Wild Horse Saloon, not the brothel, as bartenders and a gate guard and the fourth 
worked for Lance Gilman Real Estate Services as Mr. Gilman's Director of Security. None were employees of the 
Mustang Ranch (Cash Processing Services, LLC) and none were working ladies. Their names were David Morris, 



summed this up by saying, 'I enforce the law evenly as possible to everyone. No 
exceptions.' The other candidates said as much; favoritism is the root cause of 
past misdeeds in our county." (emphasis added.) 

Several items are significant in this statement by Antinoro. It impugns Lance Gilman in 
his capacity of a "high placed County official," as Mr. Gilman is the only County Official with 
ownership rights in a brothel. It also impugns the County Government as a whole. It is true that 
Mr. Oilman's is a shareholder in the corporation that owns the Mustang Ranch brothel 
("Brothel"), and the Brothel's business would be harmed by Mr. Antinoro's patently false 
statements that the Brothel had sex workers working without medical clearances. However, said 
statements are likewise particularly damaging to the County, because safe sex is a critical 
hallmark of legal prostitution. Calling the health safety of the business into question can quickly 
affect how many customers visit the business, as well as the general public's perception of the 
County as a whole. 

II. 

REASONS WHY MR. GILMAN DID NOT VIOLATE ETIDCS LAWS 

A. Sheriff Antinoro's statement made in the blog was a lie on several counts. 

Lance Gilman did not receive a copy of the blog in question until late September or early 
October of2014. He was very disappointed at the comments as reported, as they are false on all 
counts. 

If Antinoro did in fact make the statements, as detailed in the blog, he was disingenuous on 
several fronts. 

Neither Sheriff Antinoro nor his deputies have ever found a sex worker working at the 
Brothel without the necessary medical clearances. Sheriff Antinoro has never fined the Brothel, 
nor has the Mustang Ranch ever been fined at any time. Moreover, Sheriff Antinoro does not 
have the legal authority to levy fines. Mr. Gilman has never at any time asked Sheriff Antinoro 
for "special considerations," ever. Mr. Gilman will testify to these facts. 

Sheriff Antinoro acknowledged the critical statements in the quote were untrue in an 
interview he gave later to Karen Woodmansee, Editor of the Virginia City News. Ms. 
Woodmansee reported as follows: 

Mike Tuller, Kirt Warren, and Russell Hess. None were convicted on the citations. The Sheriff had his deputies 
issue these citations in a surprise change of procedure with no notice, after the prior two Sheriffs did not require 
work cards ofbar/WHS employees as it is not a licensed brothel entity. No worker of the Mustang Ranch brothel 
(Cash Processing Services) has ever been cited for working without a work card. 



"In an interview, Antinoro denied saying the workers did not have the necessary 
medical clearances. 

'That's the invention of the guy who wrote the blog,' he said. 

He said the two women involved did have health certificates. 

He said the part of the blogpost that states he fined the brothel was untrue. 

He said he did not mean to imply that Gilman expected special treatment." 

(Virginia City News, October 31, 2014 edition, p. 15.) 

So, even Antinoro acknowledges that the statements attributed to him in the blog, if 
made, were totally untrue. 

B. Sheriff Antinoro's charging allegation in the RFO includes a false statement of 
material fact. 

In Antinoro's RFO, he makes the following allegation: 

"His [Oilman's] allegation is baseless and the only accurate quote of the Sheriff 
was that he 'enforces the law as evenly as possible to everyone. No exceptions."' 

By this allegation, Antinoro is denying that he made the offending false statements. This 
denial by Antinoro, however, is untrue, as there is clear and convincing evidence that he did 
make the statements as reported. 

First, Woodmansee interviewed Tim Kelly and reported that "However, Kelly confirmed 
that he wrote the post and the information was accurate." 

Second, in order to believe Antinoro that he did not make such statements, one would 
have to believe that Mr. Kelly made up wholecloth the key particulars in this story - e.g. the lack 
of medical clearances of sex workers, the fining by the Sheriff, and the request for special favors 
by Commissioner Gilman. Given the detail and the aspects referred to in the quote, it seems 
highly unlikely that Mr. Kelly would conjure up on his own each of these statements.2 

2 In a blog post dated November 4, 2013, after the election was over, Mr. Kelly posted an apology to both Mr. 
Gilman and Mr. Antinoro and said he "may" not have reported accurately what the Sheriff said about medical 
clearances. That he "may" have been confused between work cards and medical clearances Mr. Kelly's comment 
that he may have been confused on this point seems unlikely. Mr. Kelly did not retract the comment about the fines 
and Gilman requesting special favors as a "highly placed County official." Nor did Mr. Kelly retract his initial 
comment to Karen Woodmansee that he accurately reported his conversation with Antinoro in his blog. Kelly only 
mentioned possible confusion on the one point after Woodmansee published her article and after the election was 
over, when the damage had already been done to Gilman. Most importantly, it should be noted Mr. Kelly is a 
supporter of Sheriff Antinoro and is trying to help the Sheriff as best he can by providing cover after the fact for the 
Sheriff's false statements. And please see the statement of Karen Woodmansee, attached, which indicates Mr. 
Kelly strongly confirmed Antinoro's original statement in an interview with Woodmansee. 



Third, Mr. Gilman received corroborating information to support that Sheriff Antinoro 
has indeed made these exact statements previously on another occasion. Please find attached a 
statement from Jim Miller, a combat veteran, former Sheriff of Storey County, and a former 
supporter of Sheriff Antinoro; which reads: 

"I attended the Storey County Commissioner's Meeting held on October 21, 
2014. During this meeting, Gerald Antinoro stated that he had never informed 
anyone that a surprise inspection at the brothel had found two employees without 
medical clearance and that he had never said he fined Lance Gilman for any 
violation. 

This is a direct contradiction of what he told me over a year ago. On or about 
September 12, 2013, I went into the Storey County Sheriffs Office on C Street to 
pick up my new Firearms Certification Card for a Retired Peace Officer. This card 
is valid for one year and the expiration date on the current card is 9/12/14, so I 
picked it up either on September 12, 2013 or shortly thereafter. 

Jerry and I went out on back balcony of the Sheriffs Office to talk. At that time, 
he told me that during an inspection at the brothel, two female employees were 
found to be working without proper documentation of their medical clearance and 
that he (Jerry) had fined Mr. Gilman for that issue." (emphasis added.) 

In stating that Lance Gilman's claims that he (Antinoro) made the statements in the 
blogpost are "baseless" and not "accurate". Mr. Antinoro has shown that his veracity is highly 
suspect. Further, Mr. Antinoro has shown that his "hands are unclean" in filing an RFO in this 
matter. 

C. Mr. Gilman made clear in his statement that the sole basis of the censure motion 
was the smear by Sheriff Antinoro of Mr. Gilman, in his capacity as a 
Commissioner, as well as the Storey County Commission and local government as a 
whole. 

Mr. Antinoro's comments in the Lockwood Blog were about Lance Gilman as a "highly 
placed County official." This directly related to Mr. Gilman as a County Commissioner. 
Therefore, it was appropriate for Mr. Gilman to respond and request a remedy in his capacity as 
a Commissioner.3 

Mr. Gilman did not violate NRS 281A.400(2), as he was careful and prudent when he 
explained in his statement the basis of the requested censure: 

"I am hereby requesting that an item be entered into the next Storey County 
Commission meeting agenda for a vote of censure against Sheriff Antinoro, as the 
Storey County Sheriff, and a County Department Head, for making knowingly 
false statements which reflect negatively in a significant way on Storey County. 

3 
Gilman felt that the senior law enforcement officer making willfully statements regarding Gilman as a 

Commissioner and Storey County was an abuse of power pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. section 281.61 l(l)(c) and thus 
subject to censure. 



Censure is called for and proper in this circumstance as his statements specifically 
refer to me in my capacity as a County Official, and reflect poorly on the County 
Government as a whole." (Statement of Commissioner Gilman, p. 3, attached to 
the RFO.) 

There was no reference to Mr. Oilman's personal interest as providing any basis for the 
censure motion. Therefore, Mr. Oilman's personal interest as a shareholder in the entity that 
owns the Brothel was!!!!! the basis of the requested remedy. Furthermore, there is no link in any 
of these statements as to how Mr. Oilman's pecuniary or financial interest would be served by a 
censure of Sheriff Antinoro, should it have been placed on and acted upon at the next meeting's 
agenda. 

D. The personal comments added at the end of the statement regarding censure motion 
were specifically designated as such by Mr. Gilman, and were not the basis of the 
censure motion. 

Mr. Gilman was prudent in distinguishing and separating remarks he was making as a 
Commissioner and personal remarks he was making as the business owner. Toward the end of 
his statement after discussing the basis of the censure motion, Mr. Gilman then stated carefully: 

"That concludes my official statement. Let me just add a personal comment if I 
might." 

This segregation of the personal comments and specific remark that he was now speaking 
in a personal capacity made clear there was no commingling of interest here, nor any attempt to 
disguise a request for action regarding his personal interests. He was very clear that he was 
speaking in his personal capacity to express his grave disappointment, but he did not ask for any 
action at all in that part of his statement. These personal comments were not the basis of the 
censure motion. As such, Mr. Gilman appropriately separated his "personal and public roles" so 
as not to violate NRS 281A.020 (1), and further, the fact that the request was made to serve 
County interests nullifies any claim of violation ofNRS 281.400(7). 

E. Release of the documents to the papers was appropriate. 

False statements attributed to Sheriff Antinoro were published in a resident's blog for 
approximately 1/5th of the population of Storey County. In many ways, a blog has a more 
insidious effect upon publication due to the fact that it appears in subscribers' emails and is 
likely read more often than a newspaper article. 

All documents filed with the County Commission, including the packet attached to the 
RFO, are public documents. Mr. Oilman's release of these to any media, including the local 
papers was perfectly appropriate and, indeed, was the only way he could try to correct the 
misimpression in the public eye after Mr. Antinoro's falsehoods were published. There is no 
ethical violation by delivering these documents to the newspaper. 



F. If for some reason, there is a determination Mr. Gilman "crossed the line" 
unintentionally, there was no conflict of interest here as the personal interest was 
aligned with and identical to the interest of the County. 

If the Commission determines that Mr. Gilman somehow committed a technical violation 
of the state statutes governing avoiding conflicts between public and private roles, it should be 
kept in mind that there is no conflict of interest here. 

Antinoro made willful false statements about Lance Gilman as a Commissioner, and the 
County, and the Brothel. Therefore, the interests of each of these subjects of the false statements 
were identical in seeking redress and/or publishing the true facts. There is no divergence of 
interest between these parties, and the fact that those interests overlap does not preclude an 
elected official from participating in the process and fulfilling his/her duty in holding office. 

III. 

REQUEST FOR INVESTIGATION OF SHERIFF ANTINORO 

Mr. Gilman hereby specifically requests a full investigation as to whether Antinoro made 
these false statements on any occasion to anyone (including Mr. Kelly, Mr. Miller, or anyone 
else). And ifhe did, Mr. Gilman requests action be taken against Antinoro. 

IV. 

SUMMARY 

In sum, Mr. Gilman appropriately designated and separated his public and private roles in 
his statement. There was no intermingling of roles, nor any disguised attempts to further his 
personal business. 

Antinoro's false statements to the public left Mr. Gilman no option but to seek some sort 
of remedy and to get the truth to the public and defend himself against Mr. Antinoro's false 
statements. 

Very truly yours, 

L. Lance Gilman 



Witness Information and Summary 

Bum Hess, former Storey County Commissioner. (775.848.1198)-will testify Antinoro 
threatened him over the phone and stated that he, Antinoro, "will run Storey County" after Bum 
Hess retired from the County Commission. 

Karen Woodmansee, editor of the Virginia City News. -will testify that Blog author Tim Kelly 
confirmed that the blog is accurate. 

Jim Miller, former Sheriff of Storey County (775.847.7129)-will testify Antinoro has made the 
statement previously identical to the statement in the blogpost. 

Lance Gilman, subject of the RFO. (775.412.5999) 



Statement to Anthony Frieberg 

Senior Investigator 

Nevada Commission on Ethics 

tru lS \\:? 1.i:; u I!/ [E; l!dJ 

NOV 2 4 2014 

COMMISSION 
ON ETHICS 

November 12, 2014 

I attended the Storey County Commissioner's Meeting held on October 21, 2014. During this 

meeting, Gerald Antinoro stated that he had never informed anyone that a surprise inspection 

at the brothel had found two employees without medical clearance and that he had never said 

he fined Lance Gilman for any violation. 

This is a direct contradiction of what he told me over a year ago. On or about September 12, 

2013, I went into the Storey County Sheriff's Office on C Street to pick up my new Firearms 

Certification Card for a Retired Peace Officer. This card is valid for one year and the expiration 

date on the current card is 9/12/14, so I picked it up either on September 12, 2013 or shortly 

thereafter. 

Jerry and I went out on back balcony of the Sheriff's Office to talk. At that time, he told me that 

during an inspection at the brothel, two female employees were found to be working without 

proper documentation of their medical clearance and that he (Jerry) had fined Mr. Gilman for 

that issue. 

Because of the discrepancy between what he stated during the Commissioner's Meeting and 

what I knew was stated by Jerry over a year ago about this matter, I talked with the Storey 

County Manager, Pat Whitten, the next day (Wed) to tell him about the previous conversation 

of over a year ago. He recommended that I give that information to the District Attorney's 

office because they were looking into the matter of possible censure. The following day (Thurs), 

I talked to both DA Bill Maddox and DOA Anne Langer, in separate phone conversations, about 

the statements Gerald Antinoro had made to me in 2013. I relayed to them that Jerry had 

specifically told me that he had fined Mr. Gilman for the violations found during a surprise 

inspection. 

James G. Miller 
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To Whom It May Concern: 

~ ~©~~w~ ~ 
NOV 2 4 2014 

COMMISSJON 
ON ETHICS 

As editor of the Virginia City News, I wrote a story which was published on 
Friday, Oct. 31, 2014. 

The story involved statements made to Tim Kelly, the operator of a blog in 
the Lockwood community of Storey County. 

Storey County Commissioner Lance Gilman publicly refuted allegations in the 
blog based on statements by Sheriff Gerald Antinoro regarding health 
certificates for workers at the Mustang Ranch, which Mr. Gilman owns. 

I needed to hear from Mr. Kelly if the comments made by Antinoro on his 
blog were accurate. I called him on Tuesday, Oct. 28, 2014. 

He assured me the sheriff's statements as posted were accurate. Our exact 
conversation went as follows: 

Woodmansee: Did the sheriff actually say what is on the blog. 

Kelly: What's on there is exactly what he said. It's completely accurate. 

Woodmansee: Are you sure? Lance Gilman has told me none of his sex 
workers every worked without their health certificates. 

Kelly: Then he's a liar. 

That was our conversation. He assured me that the sheriff's statements 
quoted on the blog were accurate. 

Here is the story I wrote about the situation: 



War Of Words: Commissioner, Sheriff Tangle Over Blog 
By Karen Woodmansee 
Virginia City News 
10/31/2014 

Remarks printed on a Lockwood area blog has led to a dispute between 
Storey County Commissioner Lance Gilman and Sheriff Gerald Antinoro. 

At the Storey County Commission meeting on Tuesday, Oct. 21, Gilman 
accused the sheriff of making false statements about activities at the 
Mustang Ranch brothel, which Gilman owns. 
Antinoro denied making the statements. 

The blog, operated by Tim Kelly of Lockwood, included a passage dated 
June 2, 2014 regarding a conversation Kelly had with Antinoro. 

This is how it was written on the blog: 
"There had been an incident at the Mustang Ranch brothel near Patrick 

that we also talked about. Two sex workers were working without the 
necessary medical clearance the law demands. Sheriff Antinoro fined the 
brothel even though it is owned by a highly placed County official who seems 
to have expected special considerations that were not forthcoming. Sheriff 
Antinoro summed this up by saying, "I enforce the law evenly as possible to 
everyone. No exceptions." The other candidates have also said as much; 
favoritism is root cause of past misdeeds in our county." 

Gilman called the sheriff's statements "complete fabrications." He said that 
there was no incident where a sex worker was working without necessary 
medical clearance, and there was no incident where the sheriff fined the 
brothel. Gilman said the sheriff had no legal right to fine a brothel. 

Gilman also said that the implication that he expected special 
consideration was false, and that he had never discussed medical clearances 
with Antinoro. 

He asked the commissioners to have a neutral investigator interview 
Antinoro, Deputy John-Michael Mendoza, who was said to be present at the 
meeting, to determine whether the statements were made and if they were 
true or untrue. If they are found to be not true, Gilman said, he wanted the 
commission to vote to censure the sheriff. 

In an interview, Antinoro denied saying the workers did not have the 
necessary medical clearances. 
"That's the invention of the guy who wrote the blog," he said. 
However, Antinoro said that his office cited seven people in the Mustang 
Ranch for working without their work cards. 

He said the two women involved did have health certificates. 
Work cards require health checks, but they are not the same thing, 

Antinoro said. He said a worker in a brothel, whether they are a sex worker 
or some other staff member, had to have work cards, though only sex 
workers needed health exams, which must be done before work cards are 
issued. 



Antinoro said five men "went through the process of the courts," and the 
district attorney declined to prosecute two women. 

Antinoro said those incidents occurred in 2012. 
He said the part of the blogpost that states he fined the brothel was 

untrue. 
He said he did not imply that Gilman expected special treatment. 
"You take that up with Mr. Kelly," he said. "All I wanted to get across is I 

treat people the same no matter who they are." 
However, Kelly confirmed that he wrote the post and the information in 

the post was accurate. 
At the commission meeting Tuesday, Oct. 21, Chairman Marshall McBride 

requested an opinion on the matter from the District Attorney's Office. 

I have no reason to doubt that what Mr. Kelly, who is a supporter of Sheriff 
Antinoro, told me on Oct. 28 were in fact true, as he didn't attend the 
previous commission meeting and was not aware of the conflict when I 
called him. His first comments on the dispute were to me, and in my 
experience, usually a person's first comments on a subject are the most 
accurate. 

Sincerely, 

Karen Woodmansee 

Editor, Virginia City News 
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STATE OF NEVADA 
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 
In the Matter of the Third-Party Request 
for Opinion Concerning the Conduct of 
Leonard Lance Gilman, Member, 
Storey County Commission, State of 
Nevada, 
 
         Public Officer. / 

Request for Opinion No. 14-73C 

 
 

PANEL DETERMINATION 
NRS 281A.440(5); NAC 281A.440 

 
The Nevada Commission on Ethics received a Third-Party Request for Opinion 

(“RFO”), No. 14-73C, regarding the conduct of Leonard Lance Gilman (“Gilman”) alleging  
violations of the Ethics in Government Law set forth in NRS Chapter 281A (“Ethics Law”).  
The RFO alleges violations of NRS 281A.020, NRS 281A.400(2), NRS 281A.400(7), and 
NRS 281A.520. With respect to the alleged violation of NRS 281A.520, the RFO did not 
provide sufficient evidence as required by NAC 281A.400 for the Commission to accept 
jurisdiction, investigate or present such allegation to the Panel. 

     
At the time of the alleged conduct, Gilman served as a Member of the Storey 

County Board of Commissioners, a public officer as defined in NRS 281A.160. The 
Commission has jurisdiction over the conduct of public officers pursuant to NRS 
281A.280. Therefore, the Commission has jurisdiction in this matter. 

 
 On July 15, 2015, pursuant to NRS 281A.440(5), an Investigatory Panel consisting 
of Commissioners Magdalena Groover and Keith A. Weaver, Esq. reviewed the following: 
1) RFO; 2) Notice to Subject; 3) Subject’s written response to RFO; 4) Subject’s 
supplemental response to RFO; 5) the results of the Commission’s related investigation; 
6) the Associate Counsel’s Investigatory Report to Executive Director; and (7) the 
Executive Director’s Recommendation to Investigatory Panel. 
   
 Under NAC 281A.435, the Panel concludes that the facts do not establish credible 
evidence to substantiate just and sufficient cause for the Commission to consider the 
alleged violation of NRS 281A.400(7). Therefore, this allegation is dismissed. 
 
 However, the Panel unanimously concludes that credible evidence does support 
just and sufficient cause for the Commission to hold a hearing and render an opinion 
regarding whether Gilman violated NRS 281A.020 and NRS 281A.400(2) by using his 
official position as a Commissioner, during a meeting of the Storey County Board of 
County Commissioners, to make a statement from the dais during an agenda item entitled  
“Board Comments” to draw special Board and public attention to a private business 
matter.   
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 Therefore, the Investigatory Panel refers the alleged violations of NRS 281A.020 
and NRS 281A.400(2) to the Commission to hold a hearing and render an opinion in 
accordance with the provisions of the Ethics Law.  Under NRS 281A.440, a notice of 
hearing and a procedural order will follow.   
 
 
   
 Dated: July 20, 2015 By:   /s/ Tracy L. Chase    
 Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
 Commission Counsel 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 
 
 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the PANEL 
DETERMINATION in Request for Opinion No. 14-73C, via and E-mail and U.S. Mail to 
the parties and interested persons as follows: 
 
 

Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 
Jill C. Davis, Esq. 
Associate Counsel 
Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, NV 89703 
 

Email: ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 
 
Email: jilldavis@ethics.nv.gov 

Rick R. Hsu, Esq. 
Maupin, Cox & LeGoy 
4785 Caughlin Parkway 
Reno, NV 89519 
 

Email:  rhsu@mclrenolaw.com 

Leonard Lance Gilman 
Storey County Commission 
26 South B Street 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
 
Gerald Antinoro 
P.O. Box 88 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Email:  gantinoro@hotmail.com 

             
 
DATED:  July 20, 2015          

Employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics 
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STATE OF NEVADA  
 

BEFORE THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

In the Matter of the Third-Party 
Request for Opinion Concerning the 
Conduct of Leonard Lance Gilman, 
Member, Storey County Commission, 
State of Nevada, 
                         Subject. / 

Request for Opinion No. 14-73C 
 

 
 

NOTICE OF HEARING 
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that the Nevada Commission on Ethics (“Commission”) 

will consider a Proposed Stipulated Agreement regarding the allegations submitted in 
Third Party Request for Opinion No. 14-73C at the following time and location: 

 
The Hearing Will Take Place: 

 
Wednesday, April 20, 2016 at 2:00 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the 

Commission is able to hear the matter, at the following location: 
 

Nevada Commission on Tourism 
Laxalt Building - Second Floor Chambers 

401 North Carson Street 
Carson City, NV 89701 

 
and via video-conference to: 

 
Governor’s Office of Economic Development 

555 E. Washington Ave, Suite 5400 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 

 
This hearing is to consider a Proposed Stipulated Agreement in lieu of a Hearing 

on the Motions originally noticed in the Fifth-Amended Notice of Hearing on the Motions 
and Scheduling Order issued on January 12, 2016. If the Proposed Stipulated Agreement 
is approved, it will serve as the final Opinion in this matter. If the Proposed Stipulated 
Agreement is not approved, the Commission will issue a Sixth-Amended Notice of 
Hearing setting the date, time and location for a hearing to consider the matter. 

 
 
DATED:       April 6, 2016    /s/ Tracy L. Chase  

 Tracy L. Chase, Esq. 
 Commission Counsel 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
  
 I certify that I am an employee of the Nevada Commission on Ethics and that on 
this day in Carson City, Nevada, I transmitted a true and correct copy of the NOTICE 
OF HEARING in Request for Opinion No. 14-73C, via email, addressed as follows: 
 

 
Yvonne M. Nevarez-Goodson, Esq. 
Executive Director 
Judy A. Prutzman, Esq. 
Associate Counsel 
Nevada Commission on Ethics 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, Nevada 89703 
 

 
Email:  ynevarez@ethics.nv.gov 
 
Email:  jprutzman@ethics.nv.gov 
 
 

Rick R. Hsu, Esq. 
Maupin, Cox & LeGoy 
4785 Caughlin Parkway 
Reno, NV 89519 
 

Email:  rhsu@mclrenolaw.com 
 
 
 
 

Gerald Antinoro 
P.O. Box 88 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
 

Email:  gantinoro@hotmail.com 
  

 
 

 

DATED:     April 6, 2016     
 An employee, Nevada Commission on Ethics 
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